

The role of unstated mistrust and disparities in scientific capacity

- examples from Brazil

Myanna Lahsen Gunilla Öberg



Preface

The production of this report was funded by the CLIPORE research program under the Mistra Foundation for Strategic Environmental Research through the Climate Science and Policy Beyond 2012 (CSP 2012+) project. The report draws on a broader research program developed and executed by Myanna Lahsen.

Gunilla Oberg's roles in the production of this report have been those of an active reviewer and editor. She is listed as co-author as she helped give shape to the report and because of her enthusiastic interest and efforts to make Lahsen's Brazilian study part of the broader project.

Through Myanna Lahsen, the report has enjoyed financial support of the following sources: Two Postdoctoral fellowships at Harvard University working with the Global Environmental Assessment Project and the Carnegie Mellon University directed as well as Grant No. 0242042 from the U.S. National Science Foundation. We are grateful to these institutions and to individuals within these and other institutions who have helped provide not only financial resources but also intellectual and logistical support. Any opinions, findings, conclusions or recommendations expressed in this material are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of the funding sources.

Many thanks also to the scientists and decision makers in Brazil. Their gracious sharing of views, knowledge and experiences made the research upon which this report draws not only possible but also enjoyable.

Centre for Climate Science and Policy Research
ISSN 1653-6770
ISBN 91-85523-42-9

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Summary	5
Premises	6
Knowledge Gaps	7
The science-policy interface	7
The Importance of Trust	10
Trust and Scientific Capacity	12
Brazil and climate change	15
Brazilian actors – a gradual mobilization	17
Trend away from national control over science and technology policy	18
Nationalism in Brazil and its manifestations in Brazilian science policy and in of the Amazon region	
Environmentalism and foreign interests	20
Allotment of money for mitigation versus adaptation and impact assessments	21
The inventory and associated estimates of deforestation and emission rates	22
NGOs and socio-political change in Brazil	22
Bibliography	26

"Building more effective knowledge systems for sustainability requires time and patience, a long-term perspective, and a need to learn from field experience"

David Cash, et al., "Knowledge systems for sustainable development" (2003)

Summary

The objective of this report is to illuminate the complex ways in which science is produced, used or otherwise of importance to Brazilian climate policies and politics and how it is interlinked with culture, power and politics, including the large number of factors that variously constrain or facilitate climate-related policy. It discusses arguments and evidence of how geopolitics, socio-cultural and political perspectives, and trust or lack thereof, shape – or are perceived to shape various lines of knowledge production, contestation and mobilization related to climate change and the negotiations under the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC). It argues for the need to understand the existence and consequences of distrust between the global North and South (i.e., industrialized countries and the developing countries) in climate related affairs, including the causes of mistrust and, in particular, connections between distrust and disparities in both power and national capacities to produce and frame the knowledge used in climate negotiations.

Many developing countries lack the knowledge and support offered by social and economic infrastructure, scientific and technological capability when facing international negotiation on climate change, and there are indications that this – in addition to equity and participation concerns – troubles leaders of such countries and affects general receptivity to agendas, processes and reports associated with the IPCC, the UNFCCC and associated institutions such as the Global Environmental Facility (GEF) under the direction of the World Bank. The report points out that it is necessary to investigate the role of such concerns on the part of Brazilian political leaders involved in the climate negotiations.

An important contribution lies in the mere fact of *documenting* climate-related knowledge, processes and politics in Brazil. By contrast to richer nations in the world, and perhaps also some less developed countries (LDCs), there is an astonishing small amount of actual documents produced by the Brazilian government about Brazil's climate science capacity, knowledge gaps, and policies. The reasons for this need to be understood in terms of technical as well as socio-cultural and political factors, as scarcity of studies and communication concerning such things as impact and vulnerability studies limits the mobilization of civil society on the issue of climate change, an important stimulus of social change and policy in Latin America (Alvarez, Dagnino and Escobar 1998; Checkel 1997; The Making of Social Movements in Latin America: Identity, Strategy, and Democracy 1992).

Premises

The present report takes its point of departure in the following five premises:

- Information is necessary to policy action on behalf of human-induced climate change, but availability of information does not necessarily translate into policy action; information must also be received, believed, found relevant and useful, and policy makers must subsequently make the choice to translate the information into action as well as the capacity to do so.
- Social relationships and trust are of fundamental importance to the advancement of climate negotiations and policy formation in international as well as national contexts.
 Social relationships and trust fundamentally shape both which scientific hypotheses, claims and assessments are believed or rejected as well as the attitudes among actors to political negotiations.
- Lack of recognition of the connections between science, culture, power and politics is hindering international negotiations and policy action on behalf of climate change. Since the play of politics in climate science and related assessment processes are widely perceived, denying or glossing over this reality has a weakening effect on international policy action on behalf of human-induced climate change. Thus:
 - o New, more nuanced and critically informed ways of (a) thinking and talking about science and of (b) integrating science into international environmental negotiations need to be developed.
 - o Scientific knowledge of importance to political discussions must itself be subjected to critical analysis in order to identify how it relates to (how it reflects and impacts) socio-cultural and economic assumptions and realities.
 - Governments' efforts to control science and assessments, and the dynamics of internal decision making processes, need to be better understood in order to improve environmental policy.
 - o Improved understanding of the above depends centrally on empirical research, in particular interviews, supplemented by conference records as well as data and insight provided by scholarship in a variety of fields, including anthropology, political science, and the interdisciplinary fields of environmental and science studies (the latter also known Science and Technology Studies, or STS).

Knowledge Gaps

The science-policy interface

The design and dynamics of the science-policy interface is of fundamental importance for the effectiveness of assessments and of scientific information in general, and for national government's influence on the assessment process and, through that, on international politics more generally (Cash, et al. 2003; Cash and Moser 2000; Global Environmental Assessment Project 1997; Fogel 2002; Kandlikar and Sagar 1999; Miller 1998; Mitchell, et al. forthcoming; Pielke Jr. 1994; Siebenhüner 2003). Yet there is little consensus on how to bridge the gap between science and policy (McNie 2004; Smith and Kelly 2003). The "linear model" trumpeted by Vannevar Bush (U.S. President Roosevelt's science adviser around the second world war) is largely discredited by analysts, and information use and effectiveness is known to depend on multiple factors, including how the information is distributed and the nature of decision makers' interpretive frameworks and political agendas (Stern and Easterling 1999). However, a comprehensive conceptualization of the science-policy interface is not easily forthcoming because of an inadequate amount of investigation into how knowledge systems work and how they might be better integrated with decision making to facilitate sustainability (Cash, et al. 2003). Consequently, there is a need for the development of a "rigorous theoretic framework for robust policy" (Bradshaw and Borchers 2000).

This report argues that identification of obstacles and of means of improving the relationship between science and policy (and between scientists and policy makers) is necessary to improve present and future climate-related policy processes and outcomes at both national and international levels. Needed are detailed, ethnographically-informed diagnoses of both channels of influence and blockage points – analyses of how various types of knowledge connect or fail to connect with decision making, and of the reasons for failed connections between science and policy at the national level, as well as the resulting consequences.

The research gap concerning knowledge systems is particularly acute for less developed countries. As a function of this, the causes, dynamics and the full range of consequences of the "North-South divide" that characterizes global climate politics are insufficiently understood (Kandlikar and Sagar 1999; Liverman and O'Brien 2002). Though there are indications that the divide reflects disenfranchisement on the part of less developed countries due to inequity in the area of human, technological, financial and informational resources (Fisher and Green 2004), the causes, dimensions and consequences of this disenfranchisement also remain understudied. Overcoming this knowledge gap in particular may be of fundamental importance for both ethical and pragmatic reasons, as the gulf between the soccalled global "North" (developed countries) and "South" (less developed countries) has marked and in important respects undermined an international consensus regarding the global environment.

The above knowledge gap reflects a more general lack of critical, empirical investigation at the nexus of science, technology and politics in general and in environmental politics in particular (Jasanoff 1996; Jasanoff 2004). The knowledge gap is particularly acute when it comes to less developed countries. It is worth quoting at length Paul F. Steinberg's recent articulation of the problem:

At present, environmental policymaking in developing countries is rarely studied and poorly understood. Social science research on global environmental problems has clustered at two levels of analysis – international cooperation and local resources management - leaving a gap where one would hope to find studies exploring the dynamics of national policy reform in the South. The burgeoning literature on transnational environmental advocacy (see, for example Wapner 1995; Keck and Sikkink 1998; Haas 1992) has taught us a great deal about the motivations and activities of nongovernmental actors operating across borders, but has paid less attention to the causal mechanisms through which transnational actors achieve (or fall short of) their goals. Moreover, works in this area have largely overlooked the role of environmental advocates in developing countries, focusing instead on the activities of highly visible multinational groups operating out of the United States and Europe. The result provides little guidance for understanding domestic-international linkages in the South, where most of the world's people, land, and species are found (p.5).

This state of affairs has multiple causes. Important among them is the fact that the vast majority of the world's research funds are generated in the North and therefore tends to focus on problems most directly pertinent to the North. Academic traditions are also to blame, most centrally tendencies towards disciplinarity and insufficient linking of research to practical problems. Disciplinary approaches are ill-suited to the kind of broad-ranging, multi-level investigation necessary to understand the socio-political influences on science, and the latter's socio-political and practical impacts, not to mention factoring in the environment as well.

Important work has been undertaken that illuminates the ways in which science and technology produce life, culture and politics (Escobar 1995; Haraway 1989; Jasanoff, et al. 1995; Jasanoff and Wynne 1998; Latour 1993; Mukerji 1989; Nader 1996; Proctor 1998; Shapin and Schaffer 1985; Yearley 1996). Nevertheless, academic disciplinary inclinations have limited the amount of multi-scale scholarship at the nexus of science, geopolitics, and environmental policy.

A body of work is emerging that links science and technology studies with a focus on policy problems related to the global environment (see, among others, Agrawala, Broad and Guston 2001; Guston 1999; Jasanoff and Long Martello 2004; Miller 1998; Miller and Edwards 2001). Still, a limited number of studies explicitly focus on policy relevant problems and far too few studies link national and international level empirical studies in the area of the global environment. Such linking is precisely what is needed in order to understand less developed countries' participation in international environmental institutions such as the IPCC and the UNFCCC.

Sociologists and anthropologists with relevant ethnographic skills have produced little work in the area of international organizations and global environmental politics. This is most likely due to practical and methodological challenges involved with linking micro- and macro-processes (Fischer 2003; Marcus 1998) in combination with a preference in fields such as anthropology for studying the less privileged social groups (Gusterson 1997; Marcus 1983; Marcus & Hall 1992; Nader 1988). Multi-level analyses have been limited, especially at the

level of internal government processes. The latter remain vastly understudied, in stark contrast to the amount of research devoted to non-governmental organizations. This applies to anthropology and development studies (Dove 1999; Dove and Kammen 2001), as well as international relations (IR; Jakobsen 2000). Although the majority of studies on global environmental politics in the field of international relations focus on the state as the central agent, they have contributed little to actual empirical analysis of the state (Jakobsen 2000). Some important work has been done that fills part of this gap. Examples in the case of Brazil includes work such as that by Roberto Guimarães (1991), Susanne Jakobsen (2000) and Eduardo Viola (see, for instance, Viola 2004). However, as a whole, and especially in the developing countries, the state tends to remain a black box as far as the role of perceptual frameworks and the ways in which bureaucratic interests and other socio-cultural and political dynamics affect decision making processes related to the environment.

Empirical studies of perception-dependent factors such as mistrust are not prevalent in IR as IR scholars tend to prefer analyzing more objective, tangible and recognized factors impacting international politics (Litfin 2000). One of the exceptions is Joyeeta Gupta's 1995 study of the World Bank-coordinated Global Environmental Facility (GEF), which oversees funding for climate change related projects in developing countries. Gupta found the GEF to be the object of deep, if generally unstated, suspicion and resentment from developing countries because of its institutionalized power hierarchy that privileges developed countries (i.e donor countries). Significantly, given the general gap of research at the intra-governmental level, Gupta found that the most severe criticisms of the latter were expressed by developing country government officials (Gupta 1995). Studies focused on processes and participants associated with the IPCC and the UNFCCC suggest that Gupta's finding extend to climate-related institutions and processes in general, as suggested by emerging studies (Biermann 2001, 2002; Fogel 2002; Lahsen 2001, 2004; Sagar and Kandlikar 1999; Liverman and O'Brien 2002). Together, these studies underscore the need for more detailed, systematic investigation of the causes, foci, and impacts of developing country criticisms of intergovernmental institutions and processes such as the IPCC and the UNFCCC, with view of improving the structural problems they reflect and move along international environmental cooperation and policy in a more equitous conscientious and, perhaps also, efficient manner.

The Importance of Trust

Eagerness to advance protection of the global environment has resulted in unprecedented, broad-based and steadfast efforts to produce scientific assessments. The basic premise is that objective assessments of the threats posed by human-induced climate change are a prerequisite to successful international agreements to help avert or minimize the threats. Thousands of scientists worldwide have thus been engaged for almost fifteen years in the fast-paced, resource-intensive effort of producing a succession of lengthy scientific assessment reports under the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC). Throughout this process, preciously little attention has been given to whether or not intended audiences of this information are receptive to the information being produced. The wisdom of the old saying that "you can take a horse to the water but you can't make it drink" is commonly ignored.

Lack of trust can

- 1. reflect healthy critical distance to processes dominated by those with the greatest human, technological, political and financial resources (see below).
- 2. reflect a lack of involvement and exposure to the knowledge producers, funders, and the validation processes that shape the knowledge in question.
- 3. be detrimental to the absorption of scientific information with the potential to improve environmental conditions, whether regionally or globally.

A fundamental premise of this report is that unawareness of the role of mistrust weakens international policy action on behalf of human-induced climate change. We need to know more precisely the causes and consequences of the distrust that characterizes various countries' participation in the climate regime in general and in assessment processes such as the IPCC and the negotiations under the UNFCCC in particular. The impact of distrust in climate-related knowledge on the part of non-annex 1 countries such as Brazil is likely to heighten rather than decrease in importance during the negotiations associated with the second commitment period of UNFCCC and the post 2012 period as a whole. Studies suggest that science is subjected to greater contestation as the perceived financial and political costs of accepting it increase and the post 2012 negotiations are expected to further intensify pressure on less developed countries to commit to emission reductions (Jasanoff 1990b). Increased contestation of science due to increasing perceived costs of policy action has, for example, been witnessed in Europe and the United States in climate negotiations and related processes.

It is thus very important to elucidate the perspectives and sentiments (trust or lack thereof) with which actors in developing countries receive scientific assessments such as those by the IPCC. Structural causes of the mistrust need to be identified and addressed, as part of the effort to improve both trust and equity in the knowledge and processes that underpin the climate negotiations.

Institutional reform and national participation in scientific assessment processes are commonly posited as means of securing legitimacy for assessments and agendas related to the global environment and hence render them effective (World Commission on Environment and Development 1987; Global Environmental Assessment Project 1997; Jasanoff and Wynne 1998; O'Riordan, Cooper and Jordan 1998). Therefore, counteracting the detrimental influence that the lack of trust may have (point 3 above) involves evaluating improvements in institutional, scientific and technical capacity in developing countries. Such an evaluation may enable trust building and commitment to the climate regime on the part of Brazilian political

leaders and, by extension, other countries similarly limited in these respects. Such efforts to build trust and commitment should be premised, however, on evidence of true equity in the processes and products affecting the policy outcome.

Scientific knowledge and the associated processes can reduce divisiveness; science can bring "much needed competence and critical intelligence" into a decision making processes that otherwise seem "all too vulnerable to the demands of politics" (Jasanoff 1990a (1994):1). Many therefore experience unease at the thought of unpacking the black box of science and understand it as a tool of power and politics. Contributing to this are cherished belief systems involving sanitized conceptualizations of science which also can be politically useful. Political leaders of liberal-democratic states have long looked to the authority of science as an allegedly independent means of legitimizing their actions (Ezrahi 1990; Mukerji 1989).

Science promises to provide a shared factual basis from which to discuss global environmental problems while minimizing divisiveness (Brooks 1964; Haas 1992; Evan 1981). Scientific knowledge and associated processes of validation and deliberation are indeed crucial to a successful transition to environmental sustainability (Cash, et al. 2003; Global Environmental Assessment Project 1997; Mitchell, et al. forthcoming). They are thus also central resources in efforts under the United Nations and international efforts to forge consensus and policy action on matters related to global environmental protection. However, common conceptualizations of science as intersubjective and objective obscure the less idealized dimensions of science. While it represents an exceptionally powerful way of disciplining knowledge production and reducing the play of subjective opinions, culture and power politics, science is also a social institution that is inextricably interwoven with culture, power and politics (Jasanoff 1996). Science does not always succeed in resolving international environmental issues by means of 'intersubjective understanding,' in addition the very use of the "(supposedly) universalistic" discourse of science to diagnose the globe's problems often exacerbates rather than alleviates existing suspicions of the North's interpretation of global interests (Lahsen 2001; Lahsen 2004; Yearley 1996:103). The commonly held view that science is intersubjective and objective may be damaging to trust and to international environmental negotiations to the extent that it denies the play of power politics and inequities in the production, use and legitimization of knowledge that negotiators themselves witness as they participate in processes associated with the IPCC and the UNFCCC.

Trust and Scientific Capacity

If scientific knowledge is an important political tool, how can an equitable policy consensus be reached between North and South when the distribution of informational resources is so radically skewed? (Litfin 1994:192)

Global inequity in governments' ability to produce science and direct research agendas has resulted in the emergence of an international climate change research enterprise that, when viewed from a Southern perspective, does not live up to its "global" label. Rather, it is primarily an activity of a selective transnational nature, headquartered in the North, comprised primarily of researchers in the North, dominated by Northern interests and agendas, and shaped by Northern perspectives. [....] This results in a colossal disparity between the analytical firepower that the North and the South can muster to protect their national interests in the international negotiations on climate (Kandlikar and Sagar 1999:133, 131).

Since the rise of global environmental politics, scientific capacity has also become a prerequisite for leaders of nations intent to defend their national interests on the world stage. Political theorists posit that the nature of power is changing in "post-international politics" because of the new status of "scientific proof" as a major political tool. They anticipate that the tendency to contest issues with alternative proofs is likely to grow as a central feature of world politics (Jasanoff 1990b; Litfin 1994; Rosenau 1990:203).

If science and technology are crucial sources of power in today's world, what does this mean for countries with less capacity in these areas? To what extent do such limitations disadvantage poor countries' ability to promote their perceived interests in climate negotiations, and with what consequences? The need and desire for scientific capacity has increased among developing countries since the emergence of global environmental problems. Comparison of the case of ozone depletion and climate change suggests that developing countries are growing more inclined to frame their positions in political arenas in terms of scientific knowledge. This means that political consensus increasingly depends on shared interpretations related to techno-scientific matters such as emissions data, rates of deforestation, chemical properties of greenhouse gases, and the extent to which present or future climate changes are due to human actions.

One important reason why specificities of the science-policy interface in less developed countries' may be different from those of developed countries is the potential for trust between national scientists and policy makers to be complicated by the reality of foreign influences on domestic science agendas in developing countries.

_

¹ Karen Litfin (1994: 192) argues that developing countries have framed their position on climate change in terms of scientific knowledge more than they did in the negotiations on stratospheric ozone depletion.

According to the Global Environmental Assessment project, three basic variables determine whether or not assessments are effective, namely their salience, credibility and legitimacy in the eyes of decision makers (Global Environmental Assessment Project 1997; Mitchell, et al. forthcoming). Milind Kandlikar and Ambuj Sagar identify a variety of disparities that reduce the effectiveness of international efforts to assess and combat human-induced climate change. These disparities are, according to Kandlikar and Sagar (1999), visible in five different areas or "gaps":

- 1. Resource gap: availability of human and material resources
- 2. Relevance gap: in how relevant existing research is to issues faced by different countries and regions of the world
- 3. Participation gap: in the level of participation and input countries have in international scientific programs and processes
- 4. Perception gap: in perceptions of the role and dynamics of research, analysis, and assessment processes of what is being done, why, and how
- 5. Policy-culture gap: in ability and approach to connect science and policy.

Kandlikar and Sagar posit that these gaps may have serious implications for whether or not international efforts at policy coordination succeed, and suggest that the gaps are particularly important for international assessment processes such as the IPCC (Kandlikar and Sagar 1999:136). They note that developing country participation and influence in the IPCC has been insufficient, and that it is unclear whether such countries have had any significant influence on the content and the process of the assessment. A majority of IPCC-involved actors interviewed by the authors in the Indian context expressed that they and other Southerners did not have much influence over the IPCC agenda (ibid., p. 134).

The IPCC's first chairman rightly claimed in the beginning stages of the IPCC that many countries, and especially developing countries, "simply do not trust assessments in which their scientists and policymakers have not participated" (quoted in Siebenhüner 2003:124). Fogel's interviews among less developed country representatives confirmed this point (Fogel 2002), which also has led IPCC architects and policy analysts to stress the importance of national scientific participation and capacity for national political leaders' trust and involvement in the associated political negotiations (Biermann 2000; Biermann 2002; Global Environmental Assessment Project 1997; Miller 1998; Mitchell, et al. forthcoming; Siebenhüner 2003).

The importance of national scientific capacity to secure national interests in international environmental arenas is often stressed by analysts:

[I]ndigenous capacity to gather and analyze data, to build ones' own appropriate models, and 'deconstruct' those built by others is key to appropriately shaping international discussions and safeguarding national interests. Building internal capacity for knowledge generation and analysis in the South will be the first step in truly globalizing the climate discussions and feeding a variety of perspectives into the analytical efforts that are the basis of most policy considerations.

Studies by Milind Kandlikar and Ambuj Sagar (1999) and others (Biermann 2001; Fogel 2002; Siebenhüner 2003) show that poorer nations' limited scientific capacity and associated weak participation and influence in political and scientific processes under the UNFCCC leave their scientists and political leaders alienated and less inclined to trust the reports and

the alleged concerns propelling them (Fogel 2002; Kandlikar and Sagar 1999). These studies underscore the fundamental need to attend to how IPCC and UNFCCC processes and reports are perceived and to study the consequences and the structural causes of inequities in scientific capacity, representation and influence within these forums.

Participation is indeed of fundamental importance and recognition of this is reflected in the present design of the IPCC and the governmental approval mechanism (Siebenhüner 2003:124-5). However, increased participation by developing countries has not significantly altered the basic structural dimensions that empower richer nations over poorer nations in science-related processes under the IPCC and the UNFCCC (Fogel 2002). Overcoming some of the knowledge gaps identified by Sagar and Kandlikar and others, can consequently not be presumed to increase trust and effectiveness. An increase in trust is unlikely to happen, if the structural conditions that the knowledge gaps reflect remain unchanged. Improvement in capacity and participation, everything else being equal, might consequently even increase negative impressions and mistrust rather than the opposite (for discussion on the unpredictable outcome of enhanced capacity and participation, see Jasanoff and Wynne 1998).

Those emphasizing participation commonly ignore complexities in the relationships between scientists and policy makers. For example, the dependence on foreign donors and national scientists' acculturation in Northern dominated science and associated interpretive frameworks are not unproblematic. Hence, internal relationships in countries with limited means to direct national science agendas may to a considerable extent be characterized by *lack of trust*. There are indications that at least some less developed country decision makers maintain critical distance to national scientists because they consider the latter entrained into particular, value-laden ways of thinking due to their foreign educations and networks, their participation in international science, and their frequent, partial dependence on foreign research funds (Lahsen forthcoming; Lahsen 2005b).

Understanding the practical impact of knowledge may thus be a more effective step towards enhanced international environmental cooperation than more science and assessment reports. Such work would help provide a basis for necessary political discussions presently too often eclipsed by scientific and technological discussions. Substituting political discussions related to climate change with technical discussions disadvantages those with fewer means in science and international affairs and might encourage rather than avert policy gridlock.²

Despite the enormous suggestiveness of the preliminary set of the above empirical studies of the role of scientific and technical inequities and associated distrust in North-South relations under the IPCC and UNFCCC, empirical studies of these dimensions in less developed countries remain few. There is a need for greater attention to this issue area, including the interplay of science and politics in international institutions such as the IPCC and UNFCCC.

_

² For examples of the latter in the US context, see Sarewitz & Pielke (2000).

Brazil and climate change

Brazil is an important country in the international discussions about human-induced climate change. The country produces around 2.5 percent of world carbon and its economy – ranked somewhere between the 9th and 14th largest in the world – is strong and expected to grow at an increased speed in coming decades (Hogan 2001:17). Brazil is the fifth largest country in the world, and its population of about 178 million emits about 1.5 metric tones per capita – that is significantly less than developed countries but above the average of middle income countries. Brazil is also important because it harbors around 20 percent of the world terrestrial biodiversity and subsumes 5.5 million square kilometers of forests, which are deforested at a rate of 0.5 percent a year (Viola 2004). Land-use changes account for about two thirds of Brazil's greenhouse gas emissions, according to official estimates. Other estimates are even higher (Fearnside 2003; Houghton, et al. 2000; Persson and Azar 2004; Schroeder and Siebert 2002). Carbon emissions associated with tropical deforestation is one of the largest sources of uncertainty in present knowledge of the global carbon cycle (Potter et al. 2001; DeFries et al. 2002, both cited in Persson and Azar 2004)

Climate change is also very important to Brazil. Brazil has a large stake in the international negotiations around human-induced climate change because national economic and social developmental plans, in addition to some security concerns, depend on growth in its energy sector and on development of the Amazon. The conflict between the latter and human-induced climate change is that the main source of greenhouse gas emissions in Brazil is due to land-use changes (deforestation) caused by the expansion of agriculture and cattle-raising mainly in the Amazon region. Deforestation aside, Brazil has a very good profile in terms of its emissions of greenhouse gases and could thus have a position of strength in the international negotiations. The share of non-fossil fuel renewable energy in the national energy balance has been kept above 60 percent since the 1970s (La Rovere 2000). Brazil's comparatively clean energy matrix is partly due to the "Proálcool" program, which developed transportation fuel based on sugar cane. The program was developed in the 1970s and constituted an innovative solution not only to the oil crises of that decade but also to problems experienced within Brazil's important sugar-cane industry.

Brazil also has a stake in the international negotiations around human-induced climate change because of potential deleterious impacts of anticipated climate change. Unavailability of sufficient impact studies in Brazil limits estimates of actual and future consequences of climate change in Brazil. Although uncertain, preliminary studies that do exist foresee dramatic ecological changes, such as the loss of the Amazon rainforest through increased warming and subsequent drying of the region (Cox et al. 2000).

Because of its stakes in human-induced climate change and because of its international prominence, Brazil has taken a leadership position in the international negotiations, coleading the G77 with China. National diplomats have stressed mitigation measures in international negotiations and, it appears, focused almost exclusively on mitigation measures in national-level discussions and activities as well.

Brazil's official position on global environmental issues when they emerged on international agendas in the 1970s reflected its economic profile; it reflected a commitment to economic growth and a view of development and poverty reduction as means to improved environmental protection. At the Environment Conference of Stockholm in 1972, Brazil and China lead the coalition of Third World countries against the environmental paradigm on the basis of three principles: unrestricted national sovereignty over the use of natural resources,

high per capita income is a prerequisite for environmental protection, and rich countries alone must shoulder the costs associated with protecting the global environment (Viola 1997).

To this day, the primary objective of policymakers in the developing world is to raise the standard of living of their populations, and economic growth is considered imperative to alleviate poverty. During the Fourth Session of the Intergovernmental Negotiating Committee on Climate Change, the G-77 coalition of over 120 developing countries jointly forwarded the 'Principles of G-77 and China on the climate convention.' One of the central principles serving as a basis for their participation in the climate negotiations is the 'right to development,' which they define as an "inalienable human right" and as a prerequisite for adopting measures to address climate change (Hyder 1992). Policy makers from these countries consider it unfair and unrealistic to argue for the reduction of energy consumption and of greenhouse gases emissions in the developing countries, especially CO₂ (Shih 2000). Developing countries' need for growth has been recognized in the FCCC but some more developed countries, and especially the United States, have been arguing that less developed countries should make substantial commitments to reduce greenhouse gas emissions, especially on the part of countries projected to become major future emitters.

Brazil's environmental nationalism lessened in the 1990s. Despite the emphasis on the need and right to develop, national leaders supported and participated in all treaties signed in the 1990s that relate to the global environment – treaties or amendments to treaties concerned with controlling international trade in hazardous waste and preserving the ozone layer, the integrity of Antarctica, and biodiversity. Brazil also supported the creation and later expansion of the Global Environment Facility in the early 1990s and the Protocol on Biosafety in 2000 (Viola 2004). Brazil played a leading role in the development of the Convention on Biodiversity, a function of the fact that it is the richest country in the world in terms of biodiversity (Viola and Leis 2001).

In the climate regime, however, Brazil has emphatically stressed the notion of common but differentiated responsibilities, and has been opposed to binding commitments for non-Annex 1 countries. Modifying somewhat the country's past dogged insistence on development over environmental protection, Brazilian leaders and social actors have increasingly become aware of the potential to use the Kyoto Protocol to secure financial and environmental benefits at the national level. Brazil proposed the idea of a Clean Development Fund whereby rich countries whose emissions exceeded their emission reduction commitments would pay penalties which subsequently would be used to nurture sustainable development in poorer countries. Despite strong support for this "Brazilian proposal," it was defeated due to objections from rich countries. However, Brazil and the United States worked together to create the Clean Development Mechanism (CDM). Substituting the idea of fines with voluntary action, the CDM allows industrialized ("Annex 1") countries to compensate for their emissions by financing emission reduction activities in non-industrialized ("Annex 2") countries such as Brazil that do not have commitments under the Protocol.

Brazilian decision makers' rejected the inclusion of standing forests on the list of activities fundable through the CDM. Some describe Brazil's position as "puzzling," off-hand, because the Brazilian Amazon holds "enormous potential" for industrialized countries to invest in forest-preservation projects (Johnson 2001). Bolivia, Costa Rica and Columbia, three other Latin American countries with extensive tropical forests, have seized upon this potential by selling emissions credits to foreign companies interested in financing forest-preservation projects in their countries (ibid.). The government explained the decision in terms of legitimate technical difficulties of verifying and quantifying sequestration activities and avoiding perverse effects and so-called "leakage" (i.e., mere transference of deforestation activities to neighboring areas). However, the problem of leakage apply to reforestation and afforestation

as well, which the Brazilian government chose to support as fundable under the CDM Additional concerns about the issue of deforestation in the Amazon appear to underpin the government's opposition to including preservation of standing forests under the CDM, including often unstated concern to maintain control over the Amazon for both economic and national security reasons.

Brazilian actors – a gradual mobilization

The Ministry of External Relations (Itamaraty) is most centrally responsible for Brazil's official position on climate change. Responsibility fell to the Itamaraty and the Ministry of Science and Technology (MCT) rather than the Ministry of the Environment because the issue of climate change first appeared within the Brazilian political purview in international forums in which the Brazilian government found itself pressured by foreign governments on the issue of deforestation. In practice, two persons in the MCT were in charge of the issue until around 2000, after which the Itamaraty began to involve itself relatively more with the issue, along with other actors. The MCT is responsible for coordinating Brazil's commitments under the FCCC, most centrally the national inventories of greenhouse gas emissions. The Ministry of the Environment, created in 1992, has been less centrally involved and in charge of climate affairs. It is institutionally weaker and came into being only after climate change already had become an issue of international concern.

Until around 2001, the Ministry of the Environment and most other parts of the government had little interest in climate change,. This left the MCT and Itamaraty with uncontested control of the country's official position on climate change in the international negotiations. As a result, the latter was marked by these institutions' overarching commitment to national security and development, and the associated tendency to avoid discussion of forest conservation in the climate negotiations. The Itamaraty's position on forest issues under the heading of climate change is shaped by the military, with which the Itamaraty worked to develop the country's foreign policy stance related to national deforestation before climate change emerged as an important issue in international arenas developing the. The primacy of the military's agenda in this area reflects its general control over things related to the Amazon (Jakobsen 2000; Zirker 2001).

The creation of the CDM triggered greater involvement of other parts of the Brazilian government and society. The Brazilian congress continues to participate little in shaping Brazilian policies related to climate change. However, an Inter-Ministerial Commission on Climate Change was created in 1999 to coordinate matters related to the FCCC, including the CDM. The Commission is cross-sectorial, including representatives of all relevant ministries.

The Ministry of the Environment continues to play a lesser role in shaping the country's position in the international negotiations. However, it has sought to enhance its involvement, in part by boosting its technical capacity on the issue through staff additions and the creation of the Centre for Integrated studies on Climate Change and the Environment (Centro Clima) at the Federal University of Rio de Janeiro.

More parts of Brazil's civil society have involved themselves with climate change. In 2000, President Cardoso established the Brazilian Forum for Climate Change (BFCC) to facilitate communication between decision makers at the federal, state and municipal levels and various stakeholders in Brazil, including representatives from environmental non-governmental organizations, academia and industry. The creation of the Brazilian Forum for Climate Change was a response to complaints that civil society had too little voice in governmental decision making processes and thus was not allowed to participate adequately in the

Interministerial Commission on Climate Change. Though it appears to be revitalizing itself under new directorship after 2005, the BFCC suffered from a lack of support and direction during the first years of the administration of President Luíz Ignácio Lula da Silva ("Lula"). The BFCC is also weakened by the fact that its executive directors receive no financial remuneration.

Non-governmental organizations (NGOs) mobilized on their own in the early 2000s after initially showing little interest in the climate issue. In 2002, a coalition of over 25 NGOs in Brazil launched the Climate Observatory, conceiving of climate change as an opportunity to strengthen forest conservation efforts through the CDM. The central objective of the coalition is to push the issue of deforestation to the center of climate discussions in Brazil, an agenda in conflict with important parts of the government.

Until the present, industry groups in Brazil have had no significant role in shaping Brazil's responses to climate change. Brazil's lack of commitment under the FCCC's first commitment period has created little incentive for industries to concern themselves with the issue. The few industries that have mobilized around climate change have done so with the notion of benefiting financially for projects under the CDM. However, many believe that Brazil will have to commit to some emission reductions for the second commitment period. If this happens, industry interests, perspectives and reactions will likely begin to weigh in on national decision makers. Two main sectors that would be the target of efforts to reduce emissions in Brazil are transportation and industry. In the case of transportation, the main stakeholder is the government; the government is responsible for legislation and regulations such as Corporate Average Fuel Economy (CAFE) standards for vehicles. At present, Brazil has no such standards. The second sector is industry, within which manufacturers of iron & steel, pulp and paper, chemicals and cement are the major stakeholders because these are the most dependent on intensive consumption of fossil fuels.

This raises questions regarding how Brazil's climate policies and politics might change in the future, should Brazil commit to emissions reduction targets. For example, are Brazilian industries likely to fight the new measures, a strategy adopted by an important subset of highly fossil fuel dependent industries in the U.S. (Gelbspan 1995; Gelbspan 1997; Lahsen 1998; Lahsen 2005, forthcoming), or do they show greater tendency towards the reaction of European industries, which have been more inclined to accept new regulations and make the latter work in their favor (Moore 1994)?

Trend away from national control over science and technology policy

In the 1970s, science and technology policy in Brazil mirrored the import substitution policies that shaped national development policy. Brazil sought to develop scientific capacity in all fields while protecting them from international scientific competition. Throughout this time, Brazil appreciated the importance of participation in international science and it did not attempt to develop a "national science." However, Brazil engaged less with international science compared to other small national scientific communities, and it protected its scientific research programs and institutions from evaluations that used international standards of quality as their measuring stock (Schwartzman, et al. 1995:18).

National protection programs have more recently given way to the view that "there is no room for second rate, protected basic science in the current world scientific environment" (ibid., p. ix). Today, even small national scientific communities are expected to be up to international standards, and to be an integral part of international scientific networks.

In the realm of technology, the national strategy was to invest in a few large projects deemed of strategic importance and to avoid "the technological encirclement of foreign governments and multinational firms" (ibid., p. viii). This led to the development of a few ambitious high technology projects such as the nuclear and space programs and to a quite large number of graduate programs and research institutions, not all of equal quality. The trend now is away from that pattern towards a small but highly qualified research establishment. This is accompanied by a trend away from centralized decision making regarding science and technological projects, to enable greater flexibility and responsiveness to changing circumstances and opportunities (ibid., pp. viii-ix)

Today, Brazilian scientists' careers increasingly depend on their ability to participate in international science (Lahsen 2004). Institutions increasingly evaluate scientists and base promotion decisions on scientists' publication records, giving greater weight to international publications. Brazilian scientists are thus motivated to connect with international science by learning English and establishing international collaborative networks. Brazilian scientists success now depends in large part on their ability to focus research and writing on issues of international (Northern-dominated) concern; doing so positions them better for obtaining needed research funds from abroad (i.e. from Northern-based or Northern-dominated institutions) and for having their work published in the international journals. Scientists and science administrators thus lobby for government support of international science collaborations.

Nationalism in Brazil and its manifestations in Brazilian science policy and in the context of the Amazon region

By some evaluations, Brazil is "Latin America's most nationalist country," even during "sell out periods" (Adler 1987:201). One scholar has defined Brazil as

one of those countries which, in spite of its liberal rhetoric and its rhetoric in favor of foreign capital, has systematically used its bargaining power, i.e. the bargaining power of its dominant classes, of its government technocracy, and of its national entrepreneurs, to resist. [...] Even if the national technocrats consider themselves transatlantic, consider themselves liberals, in practice they have increased State intervention, have increased the strength of State enterprises augmenting Brazil's political control" (Maria da Conceicao Taveres, in Adler 1987: 201).

Such nationalism has in the past led "subversive elites" to push and promote an antidependency ideology in Brazil (Adler 1987). As described above, anti-dependency also marked Brazil's science and technology policy in the 1970s.

Nationalism continues to mark discourses related to the Amazon, as reflected in the slogan by former president Sarney "A Amazônia é nossa" ("The Amazon is ours") and its contemporary reincarnations.³ This framing communicates that the Amazon is Brazilian and a territory about

³ For instance, the president of Brazil's national development bank in 2003 explicitly evoked ex-President Sarney's nationalistic slogan when announcing the bank's contract with the Brazilian government to reactivate the Projeto Calha Norte (Gockel 2003). Of interest to this report's attention to the role of trust and national scientific capacity, the bank president used the expression to communicate the national importance of the country's researchers, saying: "We will defend our

which only Brazilians decide. It also reflects resistance in Brazil to globalizing discourses, in particular the "life-boat" rhetoric associated with global environmental problems. Such framings and resistance persists today. Brazilian leaders have long looked to the Amazon as a means of advancing the country's developmentalist agenda and its ambitions to become a superpower. As a result, important segments of Brazil's political leadership and broader society interpret rising environmental concerns as antithetical to Brazilian national interests (Guimarães 1991a; Barbosa 1993; Becker 2001a; Schmink and Wood 1992; Wood and Schmink 1993) and as pretexts by means of which foreign governments seek to keep Brazil in a state of dependence and underdevelopment. Such perceptions shaped decision makers' stance on the issues related to forest preservation, in addition to tensions related to trade, resentment about Northern hegemony, and perceptions of injustice and of hypocrisy on the part of rich countries who have sacrificed their own forests for economic development (Hurrell 1992). There is a very widespread belief that foreigners, and in particular Americans, are planning or wanting to annex the Amazon or bring it under international control. While some of this concern about internationalization of the Amazon is founded on fictitious data and at times can appear paranoid, historical data does provide a foundation for some of these fears about foreign interests in the Amazon (Persson and Azar 2004:33; Román 1998).

Environmentalism and foreign interests

Brazil's government disclosed in April 2005 that 23,750 square kilometers (9,170 square miles) of Amazon forest were felled between August 2002 and August 2003, the secondworst on record. This bad environmental news is the dark side of the best economic news for the country in years due to Brazil's extraordinary performance as an exporter of commodities. Foreign demands for beef and soy products are spurring their production in Brazil, a key driver of deforestation in the Amazon. Brazil's agricultural performance has caused widespread concern among US farmers (Romero 2004) but have helped Brazil change its trade deficit of 8 billion dollars in 1998 to a surplus of 23 billion in 2003 (Viola 2004).

The fact that Brazil recently started out-competing the US as the world's largest exporter of some of agricultural products has only further spurred perceptions in Brazil that economic self-interest form an ulterior motive behind foreign – and especially U.S. – expressions of concern about deforestation. For instance, the Brazilian Ministry of Agriculture, Cattle-Raising and Supplies published an article this year expressing perceptions of such ulterior motives:

The more Brazilian agribusiness shows high performance and projects itself on the world scene, the more foreign non-governmental organizations and the international media publish reports linking the growth of the sector, principally soy and cattle-raising, to deforestation in the Amazon [...] There are strong indications that much of this material has, as its foundation, the objective of harming the competitive image of Brazilian agro-business throughout the world [...] the inevitable suspicion is that such reporting reflects the inconvenience that the growth of Brazilian agro-business is causing its international competitors (Ministério da Agricultura 2004)

territory with the arms of our soldiers and the books of our researchers. This is a clear way of saying that the Amazon is ours" (ibid.).

20

Brazil's environmental nationalism was more strident until the late 1980s and 1990s, at which point its stridency in international arenas softened in response to pressures from transnational NGOs and economic pressures exerted through multi-lateral institutions such as the World Bank and the Inter-American Development Bank (Barbosa 1993; Hurrell 1992)

Allotment of money for mitigation versus adaptation and impact assessments

According to Carlos Nobre, one of Brazil's most prominent environmental scientists and until recently the long-standing director of Brazil's climate research center (CPTEC), Brazil is "way behind" when it comes to adaptation measures and vulnerability and impact assessments. Nobre claims that Brazil's knowledge of future impacts of climate change is very rudimentary, even compared to knowledge produced by other LDCs, some of which have much fewer resources and scientific capacity compared to Brazil. If Nobre's claim is true, the reasons for this need to be understood and remedied. The stakes are great: even successful completion of the presently planned mitigation measures under the UNFCCC are insufficient to make a real dent in the projected human-induced climate changes and hence also in the impacts future climate change are feared to have, so societies need to prepare for the possibility of human-induced climate change. The general lack of adaptation measures is also consequential given the important benefits such measures can offer in terms of enhancing societal resilience to climate variation in general, whether natural human in origin (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change 2001; Sarewitz and Pielke Jr. 2000).

In this regard, it is also interesting to note that in the same interview in which the above mentioned policy maker expressed resistance to pressures for Brazil to produce impact assessments, he argued that Brazil would have to enhance national capacity in the area of climate modeling before it would be able to produce information of sufficient reliability for policy decisions. Interviews with Brazilian scientists also suggested that the government office coordinating national scientific efforts related to the UNFCCC insisted that the science had to be able to produce output with much greater levels of certainty before it could yield policy relevant impact studies. A reliable source (a scientist) said that a central policy maker had explicitly demanded projections "without uncertainty," claiming that projections in their current state were "junk science." This stance could appear to reflect a common, cross-cultural inclination on the part of decision makers to demand more science in order to avoid difficult policy processes and decisions, even when more science is at best a questionable solution (Pielke Jr. 1994; Pielke Jr. 1997; Sarewitz and Pielke 1999). Some Brazilian scientists interviewed suspected that Brazilian policy makers use lacking scientific capacity as a pretext by which to avoid activities which they consider disadvantageous for political reasons, and that they have deliberately avoided commissioning new studies in this area for that reason. According to them, improved climate modeling capacity is advantageous but not essential for the production of impact and vulnerability assessments useful to prudent adaptation measures. Carlos Nobre judges that countries without capacity to generate scenarios (i.e., less developed countries throughout the world) can and should rely on IPCC scenarios and start impact studies and adaptation policies.

Independent study ought to examine the foundation for the various views, as well as the role of the role of trust – and distrust - in less developed country policy makers' attitudes towards "international science" (e.g., IPCC scenarios) and the extent to which they consider enhanced national scientific capacity imperative – and why – before policy action can be taken. Such attitudes need to be mapped and understood in cross-cultural perspective to probe, among

other things, the representativeness of the views of the above Brazilian policy maker on the issue of uncertainty and scenario and impact studies, both within Brazil and among policy makers in other less developed countries?

The inventory and associated estimates of deforestation and emission rates

The Brazilian government produces annual estimates of deforestation. Their estimates have been continually challenged by groups of scientists both within and beyond Brazil. For instance, government deforestation estimates were challenged in a 1999 peer-reviewed paper co-authored by American and Brazilian scientists which was published in the prestigious, international journal Nature (Nepstad, et al. 1999). The authors of the article argued that the government's methodology for estimating deforestation rates relied on techniques that overlooked a large part of the deforestation occurring in the Amazon. Officials within the government at the time were angered by the article. However, they did not express their anger publicly in a concerted manner, and never in peer-reviewed format. When asked why, one of these officials – herself a scientist – explained in a 2002 interview that the scientific journal's requirements were too restrictive and difficult to meet, especially given her other responsibilities within the government. This suggests that limited scientific capacity can undermine governments' ability to defend perceived interests in the face of the power of peerreviewed science. In what instances, if any, do nations attempt and manage to counter that power? Studies are needed to answer such questions and thus shed light on the struggle between alternative sources of authority and legitimization available to political leaders, scientists, and activists (for theoretical discussion related to such power "polycentrism" in today's world, see (Litfin 1993; Litfin 2000; Rosenau 1990; Rosenau 1997).

NGOs and socio-political change in Brazil

Issues of trust also affect the Brazilian government's relation with civil society in Brazil, in part because of the foreign ties of national environmental NGOs. In the face of governments' reluctance or inability to undertake the necessary reforms to prioritize environmental concerns over economic considerations, non-governmental organizations have become an important vehicle for social change (Price 1994). As described above, this is the case in Brazil at the domestic level.

Research NGOs, in particular, are becoming "an important new constituency" in the climate negotiations (Earth Negotiations Bulletin 2003: 18) and were officially recognized as such at the Ninth Conference of the Parties (COP-9). The International Institute for Sustainable Development posits that the "independent research and analysis" undertaken by these organizations "will inevitably strengthen the research elements of the climate process" (ibid.).

Since the end of the 21-year-long military dictatorship in Brazil in 1985, NGOs became an important force for social change in Brazil. These new NGO actors on the national scene have pressed for more meaningful citizenship, equality, and democracy (Landim 1993b). In doing so, they have been presented with considerable obstacles, however. Brazil's transition from military to civilian rule was gradual and uneven, and in some aspects, the process of democratization is still incomplete and subject to "significant failings" (Friedman and Hochstetler 2002). "Authoritarian inclinations in democratic day dress" remains a central challenge to democracy in Brazil as elsewhere in Latin America (Hurrell 2005:78).

Brazil is a cooptive democracy, that is, its democracy is characterized by high levels of state control coupled with high levels of institutionalized participation in which citizens have access to government elites but in ways circumscribed and defined by those elites (Friedman and Hochstetler 2002). As a cooperative democracy, state actors in Brazil generally exert heavy control over the nature and extent of civil society organizations' access to government. Another common term for this is corporatism. Policy formation in corporatist states involves identification of national goals in a top-down, non-participatory manner. It is guided by a notion that a central core of political leaders are best equipped to identify the national interest, and hence policies, in relative isolation from the expressed opinions of broader segments of the population, which are dismissed for their perceived partiality. Conceptualizing themselves as above politics and as disposing of a purview enjoyed only by a privileged few, political leaders shaped by the corporatist tradition tend to isolate themselves from interest groups, devaluing the latter. The associated arrangements tend to persist in spite of changes in presidents and associated administrations, and they favor different civil society organizations differently, including some, excluding others at the discretion of the state actors (ibid.). Latin American governments as a whole "still face the burden of proof to show that they are willing to accept actors from civil society as partners at home and abroad" (Friedman, Hochstetler and Clark 2001).

The Brazilian government's relationship to NGOs is complex. It bears important imprints of corporatism, but at the same time there is considerable interaction between them. In the environmental realm, NGOs with foreign ties are especially subject to suspicions of serving foreign rather than Brazilian interests. But they can nevertheless exert significant influence. A case in point is IPAM (Instituto de Pesquisa Ambiental da Amazônia – the Institute of Environmental Research in the Amazon), the first environmental *research* NGO in Brazil. Since its creation in 1995, it has been joined, in the climate-related arena, by IMAZON (the Amazon Institute of People and the Environment). Think tanks are a recent and still poorly institutionalized phenomenon in Brazil, where knowledge production has traditionally been under government auspices and subject to top-down control. Until the emergence of research NGOs, the state subsumed – and in important ways controlled – all science production in Brazil.

IPAM is an especially important actor in Brazilian climate politics (Persson and Azar 2004:3). It is one of the research NGOs present at the COP meetings and it was one of the first NGOs to mobilize around the issue of climate change in Brazil. It played a leading role in mobilizing other NGOs in Brazil around climate change, resulting in the creation of the Observatório do Clima, the above-mentioned "Climate Observatory" which has pushed to place forests at the center of international negotiations on climate change. Its staff of PhD and MA scientists and activists carry out outreach and research projects related to land- and resource use in the Amazon. It organizes and educates communities about climate change, fire prevention and sustainable land management in the Amazon in general. It also produces a bimonthly newsletter which is widely circulated, also within the government.

Within the government, IPAM's influence is mixed. Through its newsletter and other means, IPAM is said to have stimulated recent efforts of a small group of Brazilian decision makers to produce new legislation on behalf of climate change outside of any commitments under the Kyoto Protocol. However, large parts of Brazilian government are said to maintain a distant relationship to IPAM. Brazil's corporatist tradition appears to be a factor in this. At least, I encountered discourses among policymakers in the ministries of foreign relations and science and technology which justified critical distance to scientists and environmental NGOs on the grounds that they are motivated by narrowly-conceived political agendas and financial

motives (i.e., the need to find finding for research), and as having limited understanding of the political game into which they want to inject themselves (Lahsen, forthcoming).

IPAM's foreign ties are also a cause of concern among Brazilian decision makers. IPAM is often referred to as an Amazonian institution, and it is indeed located in the Amazon (two of its offices in the state of Pará, another in Acre). However, as is the case with IMAZON, IPAM was first created by a group of American scientists. It now includes Brazilians in important leadership positions, but it continues to receive the vast majority of its – by Brazilian standards impressive – funding mainly from abroad, particularly the U.S. (more specifically, the Agency of International Aid (US AID), the National Science Foundation, NASA and foundation such as the Packard and Ford foundations). In this, IPAM is not different from other Brazilian NGOs, which as a whole receive a large part of their funding from abroad, contributing to perceptions among some that NGOs in Latin America are planted by foreign powers, most centrally the US, and that they are designed to serve the self-serving interests of their foreign donors (Price 1994).

IPAM's political agenda has also brought it into tensions with the Brazilian government. Looking to climate change as an opportunity to strengthen forest conservation efforts through the CDM, IPAM and other members of the Climate Observatory pushed to place the issue of deforestation at the center of climate discussions in Brazil already during discussions related to the first commitment period under the Kyoto Protocol. This strategy pitches these activist organizations against central political architects of Brazil's official position in the negotiations, whose long-standing strategy is to avoid linking climate discussions with the problem of deforestation (Jakobsen 2000). The issue of whether or not to include avoided deforestation as an activity fundable under the CDM has divided NGOs internationally and nationally within Brazil (Fearnside 2001; Fearnside 2003), and has been a source of major contention in the climate negotiations (Lövbrand forthcoming; Persson and Azar 2004). Research questions in this context concern the role of scientific capacity in Brazilian ecopolitics. To what extent and in which arenas, does scientific capacity translate into influence? Who accepts their cognitive authority, who rejects it, and on what grounds and with what consequence, for whom and for what?

As NGOs developed in Latin America, the United States and, to a lesser extent, other developed countries looked to them as a means of expanding its influence in the region (Price 1994). This has led some to assert that Latin American environmental NGOs to a large extent came into being as a response to US desires for their services (Meyer 1993 p. 203, cited in Price 1994). Such renditions often do injustice to the complexity Latin American NGOs subsume and the agency they exercise; the approaches of Latin American NGOs are also, as a whole, marked by their location in the global South (Price 1994). For instance, although their agendas may favour global issues out of proportion to local issues, reflecting northern influences, they also tend to integrate a "third world ecologism" that emphasizes the need to integrate environmental concerns with development needs (García 1992, in Price 1994). Nevertheless, perceptions of NGOs as puppets for Northern governments, combined with prevalent fears of foreign invasion and usurpation of Amazonian natural resources under the pretext of environmental concern (Lahsen 2005b), render development through environmental NGOs a delicate affair in Brazil. Knowledge of such organizations' motivations, agendas and funding sources, and of their strengths and weaknesses, successes and failures, can help weed out unfounded fears and illuminate how best to target development aid intended to promote sustainability and climate policies in Brazil. Studies should also probe the extent to which, and the areas in which, climate policy preferences of environmental NGOs, local and federal government officials, and broader Brazilian society overlap or contrast with one another, providing a basis for identifying which political actors best represent public opinion.

Transformations in Brazil's engagement with the issue of climate change, in particular the rapid broadening of stakeholder involvement in the country's climate-related politics and policies, are part of a broader democratization of Brazilian society after the authoritarian regime that officially ended in the mid-1980s. As one Brazilian analyst's comment suggests, the stakes are high:

Brazil is going through a profound social transition that is changing the shape of the country and raising a new set of social and economic issues that were not on the agenda just a few years ago. The new agenda is a reflection not only of existing problems but also of the perspectives, values, and interests of different social groups. The question of who sets the agenda has important consequences for the issues tackled, their priority, and the likelihood of their failure or success.

Simon Schwartzman (2000) [emphasis added]

It is thus crucial to reveal who sets the agenda for climate science and policy in Brazil and with what consequences, and to identify ways of linking Brazil's aspirations for development and enhanced democracy with the international agenda to develop effective climate policies. Only with that knowledge can decision making related to climate change - and the environment more broadly conceived - be understood, anticipated and improved, and policy gridlocks overcome in ways respectful of democratic principles.

Bibliography

- Adler, Emanuel. 1987. *The power of ideology: The quest for technological autonomy in Argentina and Brazil.* Berkeley: University of California Press.
- Agrawala, Shardul, Kenneth Broad, and David H. Guston. "Integrating Climate Forecasts and Societal Decision Making: Challenges to an Emergent Boundary Organization." *Science, Technology & Human Values* 26, no. 4 (2001): 454-77.
- Alvarez, Sonia E., Evelina Dagnino, and Arturo Escobar, eds. 1998. *The cultures of politics and the politics of culture: Re-visioning social movements in Latin America*. Boulder, CO: Westview.
- Ancarani, Vittorio. "Globalizing the World: Science and Technology in International Relations." In *Handbook of Science and Technology Studies*, edited by Sheila Jasanoff, et al., 652-70. Thousand Oaks, London, New Delhi: Sage Publications, 1995.
- Applegate, David. "Science in the Political Arena: Taking Fire from the Right and the Left." *Eos* 76, no. 47 (November 21 1995): 4.
- Barbosa, Luiz C. "The "Greening" of the Ecopolitics of the World-System: Amazonia and Changes in the Ecopolitics of Brazil." *Journal of Political and Military Sociology* 21, no. 1 (1993): 107-34.
- Becker, Bertha K. 2001a. Amazonian frontiers at the beginning of the 21st century. Daniel Joseph Hogan and Maurício Tiomno Tolmasquim, eds. *Human dimensions of global environmental change: Brazilian perspectives*. Rio de Janeiro: Academia Brasileira de Ciências: 299-323.
- Becker, Bertha K. 2001b. "Revisão das Políticas de Ocupação Da Amazônia: É Possível Identificar Modelos para Projetar Cenários?" *Parceirias Estratégicas* 12 (September 2001): 135-57.
- Betsill, Michele M., and Elisabeth Corell. "NGO Influence in International Environmental Negotiations: A Framework for Analysis." *Global Environmental Change* 1, no. 4 (November 2001): 65-85.
- Biermann, Frank. "Big Science, Small Impacts in the South? The Influence of Global Environmental Assessments on Expert Communities in India." *Global Environmental Change* 11 (2001): 297-309.
- Biermann, Frank. "Institutions for Scientific Advice: Global Environmental Assessments and Their Influence in Developing Countries." *Global Governance* 8, no. 2 (2002): 195-219.
- Biermann,Frank "Science as Power in International Environmental Negotiations: Global Environmental Assessments Between North and South." Belfer Center for Science and International Affairs (BCSIA) Discussion Paper 2000-17, Environment and Natural Resources Program (Paper Available at Http://Environment.Harvard.Edu/Gea. Kennedy School of Government, Harvard University, 2000.
- Biermann, Frank and Steffen Bauer. "Assessing the Effectiveness of Intergovernmental Organisations in International Environmental Politics." *Global Environmental Change* 14 (2004): 189-93.
- Biermann, Frank and Klaus Dingwerth. "Global Environmental Change and the Nation State." *Global Environmental Politics* 4, no. 1 (February 2004): 1-22.
- Black, Duncan. "On the Rationale of Group Decision-Making." *Journal of Political Economy* 56, no. 1 (1948): 23-34.
- Boehmer-Christiansen, Sonja. "Global Climate Protection Policy: The Limits of Scientific Advice -- Part I." *Global Environmental Change* 4, no. 2 (1994a): 140-59.

- Boehmer-Christiansen, Sonja. "Global Climate Protection Policy: The Limits of Scientific Advice -- Part II." *Global Environmental Change* 4, no. 3 (1994b): 185-200.
- Bradshaw, G. A., and J. G. Borchers. "Uncertainty as Information: Narrowing the Science-Policy Gap." *Conservation Ecology* 4 (2000): Online.
- Breyman, Steve. "Knowledge as Power: Ecology Movements and Global Environmental Problems." In *The State and Social Power in Global Environmental Politics*, edited by Ronnie D. Lipschutz and Ken Conca, 124-57. New York: Columbia University Press, 1993.
- Brooks. "The Scientific Advisor." In *Scientists and National Policy-Making*, edited by Robert Gilpin and C. Wright, 73-96. New York: Columbia University Press, 1964.
- Campbell, L. M., and A. Vainio-Mattila. "Participatory Development and Community-Based Conservation: Opportunities Missed for Lessons Learned?" *Human Ecology* 31, no. 3 (2003): 417-37.
- Cash, David W., and Susie Moser. "Linking Global and Local Scales: Designing Dynamic Assessment and Management Processes." *Global Environmental Change-Human and Policy Dimensions* 10, no. 2 (2000): 109-20.
- Cash, David W, et al. "Knowledge Systems for Sustainable Development." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 100, no. 14 (8 July 2003): 8086-91.
- Checkel, Jeffrey T. "Norms, Institutions, and National Identify in Contemporary Europe." *International Studies Quarterly* 43, no. 1 (March 1999): 83-114.
- Checkel, Jeffrey T. 1997. International norms and domestic politics: Bridging the rationalist-constructivist divide. *European Journal of International Relations* 3 (4): 473-495.
- Clark, William C., and Nancy M. Dickson. 2003. "Sustainability Science: The Emerging Research Program." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 100, no. 14 (8 July): 8059-8061.
- Conca, Ken. "Rethinking the Ecology-Sovereignty Debate." *Millenium: Journal of International Studies* 23, no. 3 (1994): 701-11.
- Coutinho, Leonardo. "Tem Gringo No Mato." *Veja On-Line* 11 February 2004 http://veja.abril.uol.com.br/110204/p_079.html.
- Cox, Peter M., et al. "Acceleration of Global Warming Due to Carbon-Cycle Feedbacks in a Coupled Climate Model." *Nature* 408 (9 November 2000): 184-87.
- Crespo, Samyra, and P. Leitão. O Que o Brasileiro Pensa Da Ecologia. Rio de Janeiro: ISER, 1993.
- Dimitrov, Radoslav S. "Knowledge, Power, and Interests in Environmental Regime Formation." *International Studies Quarterly* 47 (2003): 123-50.
- Douglas, Mary, and Aaron Wildavsky. *Risk and Culture*. Berkeley: University of California Press, 1984.
- Dove, Michael R. "Anthropology of Development Vs. Development Anthropology: Mediating the Forester-Farmer Relationship in Pakistan," 1999.
- Dove, Michael R., and D. M. Kammen. "Vernacular Models of Development: An Analysis of Indonesia Under the 'New Order'." *World Development* 29, no. 4 (2001): 619-39.
- Dunlap, Riley E. "Lay Perceptions of Global Risk: Public Views of Global Warming in Cross-National Contexts." *International Sociology* 13 (1998): 473-98.
- Dunlap, Riley E., Chenyang Xiao, and Aaron M. McCright. "Politics and Environment in America: Partisan and Ideological Cleavages in Public Support for Environmentalism." *Environmental Politics* 10, no. 4 (Winter 2001): 23-48.
- Earth Negotiations Bulletin. "A Brief Analysis of COP-9." Vol. 12, No. 231. 15 December 2003. 18 http://www.iisd.ca/linkages/climate/cop9/.

- Elzinga, Aant. 1993. "Science as the Continuation of Politics by Other Means." In *Controversial Science: From Content to Contention*, edited by Thomas Brante, Steve Fuller, and William Lynch, 127-51. Albany: State University of New York.
- Escobar, Arturo. 1995. "Notes on "the Organic" and the Anthropology of Nature." Presented at the 94th AAA Annual Meeting. Washington, D.C., November.
- Escobar, Arturo and Sonia E. Alvarez. 1992. *The making of social movements in Latin America: Identity, strategy, and democracy.* Boulder: Westview Press.
- Evan, William M., ed. "Knowledge and Power in Global Society." Beverly Hills, CA: Sage Publications, 1981.
- Ezrahi, Yaron. *The Descent of Icarus: Science and the Transformation of Contemporary Democracy*. Cambridge, Mass.: Harvard University Press, 1990.
- Fearnside, Philip M. "Saving Tropical Forests as a Global Warming Countermeasure: An Issue That Divides the Environmental Movement." *Ecological Economics* 39, no. 2 (November 2001): 167-84.
- Fearnside, Philip M. A Floresta Amazônica Nas Mudanças Globais. Manaus: Jacaré Gráfica e Editora, 2003.
- Fischer, Frank. Technocracy and the Politics of Expertise. London: Sage, 1990.
- Fischer, Michael M. J. *Emergent Forms of Life and the Anthropological Voice*. Durham, NC; London: Duke University Press, 2003.
- Fisher, Dana R., and Jessica F. Green. 2004. "Understanding Disenfranchisement: Civil Society and Developing Countries' Influence and Participation in Global Governance for Sustainable Development." *Global Environmental Politics* 4, no. 3 (August): 65-84.
- Fogel, Catheleen A. 2002. "Greening The Earth With Trees: Science, Storylines And The Construction Of International Climate Change Institutions." Ph. D. diss., Environmental Studies, University of California, Santa Cruz.
- Forester, J. *The Deliberative Practitioner; Encouraging Participatory Planning Processes*. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press, 1999.
- Friedman, Elisabeth Jay, and Kathryn Hochstetler. 2002. Assessing the third transition in Latin American democratization: Representational regimes and civil society in Argentina and Brazil. *Comparative Politics* 35 (1, October): 21-42.
- Friedman, Elisabeth Jay, Kathryn Hochstetler and Ann Marie Clark. 2001. Soverign limits and regional opportunities for global civil society in Latin America. *Latin American Research Review* 36 (3): 7-35.
- Gelbspan, Ross. "The Heat is on." Harper's, December 1995.
- Gelbspan, Ross. *The Heat is on: The High Stakes Battle Over Earth's Threatened Climate*. New York: Addison-Wesley Publishing Company, Inc., 1997.
- Gieryn, Thomas. 1995. "Boundaries of Science." In *Handbook of Science and Technology Studies*, edited by Sheila Jasanoff, et al., 393-443. Thousand Oaks, London, New Delhi: Sage.
- Gieryn, Thomas. 1983. "Boundary-Work and the Demarcation of Science from Non-Science: Strains and Interests in Professional Ideologies of Scientists." *American Sociology Review* 48 (December): 781-95.
- Global Environmental Assessment Project. A Critical Evaluation of Global Environmental Assessments: The Climate Experience. Calverton, MD: CARE, 1997.
- Gockel, Luísa. "Lessa Quer a Ocupação Social Da Amazônia." *Journal Do Brasil* 14 October 2003: A7.

- Gomes, Eduardo. "Amazônia Em Perigo." *Em Tempo* (Manaus, Amazonas), 15 February 2004, A1, A8.
- Guimarães, Roberto P. 1991. *The ecopolitics of development in the third world: Politics and environment in Brazil.* Boulder & London: Lynne Rienner Publishers.
- Guimarães, Roberto P 2002. "The Bureaucratic Politics of Environmental Policy Formation in Brazil." In *Environmental Policy and Developing Nations*, edited by Stuart S. Nagel, 227-44. London: McFarland & Company, Inc., Publishers.
- Gupta, Joyeeta. 1995. "The Global Environmental Facility in Its North-South Context." *Environmental Politics* 4, no. 1 (Spring): 19-43.
- Gusterson, Hugh. 1997. "Studying up Revisited." *Political and Legal Anthropology Review* 20, no. 1: 114-19.
- Guston, David H. 1999. "Stabilizing the Boundary Between US Politics and Science: The Role of the Office of Technology Transfer as a Boundary Organization." *Social Studies of Science* 29, no. 1 (February): 1-25.
- Guston, David H. 1999. "Stabilizing the Boundary Between US Politics and Science: The Role of the Office of Technology Transfer as a Boundary Organization." *Social Studies of Science* 29, no. 1 (February): 1-25.
- Guston, David H. 2000. "Toward a 'Best Practice' of Constructing 'Serviceable Truths'." In *Knowledge, Power, and Participation in Environmental Policy and Risk Assessment*, edited by W. Dunn, et al. New Brunswick, NJ: Transaction Press.
- Haas, Peter M. 1992. "Introduction: Epistemic Communities and International Policy Coordination." *International Organization* 46, no. 1: 1-35.
- Habermas, Jürgen. 1993. "Emancipatory Knowledge." In *Social Theory: The Multicultural and Classic Readings*, edited by Charles Lemert, 414-15. Boulder, San Francisco, Oxford: Westview Press, 1993.
- Habermas, Jürgen. 1985. The Theory of Communicative Action, Volume 1: Reason and the Rationalization of Society. Beacon Press.
- Haraway, Donna. 1989. Primate Visions. Routledge.
- Hogan, Daniel Joseph. 2001. "Demographic Aspects of Global Environmental Change: What is Brazil's Controbution?" In *Human Dimensions of Global Environmental Change: Brazilian Perspectives*, edited by Daniel Joseph Hogan and Maurício Tiomno Tolmasquim, 15-41. Rio de Janeiro: Academia Brasileira de Ciências.
- Hopgood, Stephen.1998. American Foreign Environmental Policy and the Power of the State. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Houghton, R. A., et al. 2000. "The Spatial Distribution of Forest Biomass in the Brazilian Amazon: A Comparison of Estimates." *Global Change Biology* 7: 731-46.
- Hurrell, Andrew. 1992. Brazil and Amazonian Deforestation. Andrew Hurrell and Benedict Kingsbury, eds. *The international politics of the environment: Actors, interests, and institutions*. Oxford: Clarendon Press: 398-429.
- Hurrell, Andrew. 2005. "The United States and Brazil: Comparative Reflections." In *The United States and Brazil: A Long Road of Umet Expectations* by Mônica Hirst, 73-107. New York; London: Routledge.
- Hyder, T. O. 1992. "Climate Negotiations: The North/South Perspective." In *Confronting Climate Change: Risks, Implication and Responses*, edited by I. M. Mintzer. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

- Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Climate Change 2001: Synthesis Report. *Third Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change*. Oxford, UK: Cambridge University Press.
- Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. 2000. Special Report on Land Use, Land Use Change, and Forestry. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- IPCC, and ed. J. P. Bruce et al. 1996. *Climate Change 1995: Economic and Social Dimensions of Climate Change*. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.
- Jakobsen, Susanne.2000. "Transnational Environmental Groups, Media Science and Public Sentiment(s) in Domestic Policy-Making on Climate Change." In *Non-State Actors and Authority in the Global System*, edited by Richard Higgot, Geoffrey Underhill, and Andreas Bieler, 274-89. Routledge.
- Jasanoff, Sheila ——. 1990. "American Exceptionalism and the Political Acknowledgment of Risk." *Deadalus* Fall 1990b: 61-81.
- Jasanoff, Sheila. 1996. "Science and Norms in Global Environmental Regimes." In *Earthly Goods: Environmental Change and Social Justice*, edited by Fen Osler Hampson and Judith Reppy, 173-97. Ithaca and London: Cornell University Press, 1996.
- Jasanoff, Sheila "Science, Politics, and the Renegotiation of Expertise at EPA." *Osiris* 7 (1992): 195-217.
- Jasanoff, Sheila. 2004. "The Idiom of Co-Production." In *States of Knowledge: The Co-Production of Science and Social Order*, edited by Sheila Jasanoff, 1-12. Taylor & Francis, Inc.
- Jasanoff, Sheila. 1990a. *The Fifth Branch: Science Advisors as Policymakers*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Jasanoff, Sheila. *The Fifth Branch: Science Advisors as Policymakers*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press, 1990a (1994).
- Jasanoff, Sheila. et al., ed. 1995. *Handbook of Science and Technology Studies*. London: Sage Publications Ltd., 1995.
- Jasanoff, Sheila. and Marybeth Long Martello, Editors. *Earthly Politics: Local and Global in Environmental Governance*. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press, 2004.
- Jasanoff, Sheila. and Brian Wynne. 1998. "Science and Decisionmaking." In *Human Choice and Climate Change Volume One*, edited by Steve Rayner and Elizabeth L. Malone, 1-87. Columbus, Ohia: Batelle Press, 1998.
- Johnson, Ken. "Brazil and the Politics of the Climate Change Negotiations." *Journal of Environment and Development* 10, no. 2 (June 2001): 178-206.
- Kandlikar, Milind, and Ambuj Sagar.1999. "Climate Change Research and Analysis in India: An Integrated Assessment of a South-North Divide." *Global Environmental Change* 9 (1999): 119-38.
- Keck, Margareth E., and Kathryn Sikkink. 1998. *Activists Beyond Borders: Advocacy Networks in Interntional Politics*. Ithaca, NY: Cornell University Press.
- Kempton, Willett, and Paul P. Craig. 1993. "European Perspectives on Global Climate Change." *Environment* 35, no. 3 (1993): 16-20, 41-45.
- Kempton, Willett, James S. Boster, and Jennifer A. Hartley. 1995. *Environmental Values in American Culture*. Cambridge, MA: M.I.T. Press.
- La Rovere, Emilio Lèbre. "Brazil." 2000. In *Confronting Climate Change: Economic Priorities and Climate Protection in Developing Nations. A Climate of Trust Report*, edited by B. Biagini, 209-24. Washington, DC: National Environmental Trust.

- Lahsen, Myanna. 1998a. "Climate Rhetoric: Constructions of Climate Science in the Age of Environmentalism." Ph.D. thesis, Houston, Texas, Rice University, 1998a.
- Lahsen, Myanna. 1998b. "The Detection and Attribution of Conspiracies: The Controversy Over Chapter 8." In *Paranoia Within Reason: A Casebook on Conspiracy as Explanation. Late Editions 6, Cultural Studies for the End of the Century*, edited by George E. Marcus. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Lahsen, Myanna. 2001. "Brazilian Epistemers' Multiple Epistemes: An Exploration of Shared Meaning, Diverse Identities, and Geopolitics, in Global Change Science." Belfer Center for Science and International Affairs (BCSIA) Discussion Paper [# to Be Determined], Environment and Natural Resources Program, Kennedy School of Government, Harvard University). https://environment.harvard.edu/Gea.
- Lahsen, Myanna. 2004. "Transnational Locals: Brazilian Experiences of the Climate Regime." In *Earthly Politics, Worldly Knowledge: Local and Global in Environmental Politics*, edited by Sheila Jasanoff and Marybeth Long Martello. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.
- Lahsen, Myanna. 2005a. "Technocracy, Democracy and U.S. Climate Science Politics: The Need for Demarcations." *Science, Technology and Human Values* 30(1), 137-169 (Winter).
- Lahsen, Myanna. 2005b. Tattered or armed by science? Science and sovereignty in Brazil. Discussion paper presented at the Science and Democracy Network Workshop. Harvard University, Cambridge, USA, June 25.
- Lahsen, Myanna (forthcoming). "International Science, National Policy: The Politics of Carbon Cycle Science in Brazil." *Climatic Change*.
- Landim, Leilah. 1993b. A invenção das ONGs: Do servico Invisivel a professão sem nome. Dissertation. Universidade Federal de Rio de Janeiro.
- Latour, Bruno. 1993. We Have Never Been Modern. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press, 1993.
- Lee, Henry. 1995. "Introduction." In *Shaping National Responses to Climate Change: A Post-Rio Guide*, edited by Henry Lee, 1-39. Washington, D.C.: Island Press.
- Lee, Kai N. 1993. Compass and Gyroscope: Integrating Science and Politics for the Environment. Washington, D.C.: Island Press.
- Leonard, Jason. A., et al., eds. 2004. *Participatory Community Research: Theories and Methods in Action*. Washington, D.C.,: American Psychological Association (APA) Books.
- Lipschutz, Ronnie D., and Ken Conca, ed. 1993. "The State and Social Power in Global Environmental Politics." New York: Columbia University Press.
- Litfin, Karen. 1993. "Ecoregimes: Playing Tug of War with the Nation-State." In *The State and Social Power in Global Environmental Politics*, edited by Ronnie D. Lipschutz and Ken Conca, 94-117. New York: Columbia University Press.
- Litfin, Karen. 1994. Ozone Discourses: Science and Politics in Global Environmental Cooperation. New York: Columbia University Press.
- Litfin, Karen, Ed. 1998. The Greening of Sovereignty in World Politics. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.
- Litfin, Karen . 2000. "Environment, Wealth and Authority: Global Climate Change and Emerging Modes of Legitimation." *International Studies Review* 2, no. 2: 119-48.
- Liverman, Diana, and Karen O'Brien. 2002. "Southern Skies: The Perception and Management of Global Environmental Risks in Mexico." In *Social Learning Group. Learning to Manage Global Environmental Risks: Volume 1. A Comparative History of Social Responses to Climate Change, Ozone Depletion, and Acid Rain*, 213-33. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press, 2002.
- Lövbrand, Eva. (xxxx) "Bridging Political Expectations and Scientific Limitations in Climate Risk Management." *Climate Change*.

- MacDonald, Gordon J., Daniel L. Nielson, and Marc A. Stern, eds. *Environmental Politics and Policy in Latin America*. Boulder, Colorado: Westview Press, 1997.
- MacKenzie, Donald. Inventing Accuracy. Cambridge, MA: M.I.T. Press, 1990.
- Marcus, George E. *Ethnography Through Thick and Thin*. Princeton, NJ: Printeton University Press, 1998.
- McCarthy, John D. "Constraints and Opportunities in Adopting, Adapting and Inventing." In *Comparative Perspectives on Social Movements, Political Opportunities, Mobilizing Structures, and Cultural Framings*, edited by Doug McAdam, John D. McCarthy, and Mayer N. Zald, 141-51. New York: Cambridge University Press, 1996.
- McCright, Aaron M., and Riley E. Dunlap. "Challenging Global Warming as a Social Problem: An Analysis of the Conservative Movement's Counter-Claims." *Social Problems* 47, no. 4 (2000): 499-522.
- McNie, Elizabeth. "Reconciling Supply and Demand of Scientific Information: A Review of the Literature." Unpublished manuscript in workshop materials for the University of Colorado's Workshop on Carbon Cycle Science: Reconciling Supply and Demand, Fort Collins, Colorado, 16-17 September 2004 2004.
- Meadows, Donella H. et al. *The Limits to Growth: A Report for the Club of Rome's Project on the Predicament of Mankind*. New York: Universe Books, 1972.
- Miller, Clark A. "Challenges in the Application of Science to Global Affairs: Contingency, Trust, and Moral Order." In *Changing the Atmosphere: Expert Knowledge and Environmental Governance*, edited by Clark A. Miller and Paul N. Edwards, 247-85. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press, 2001b.
- Miller, Clark A., and Paul N. Edwards, eds. *Changing the Atmosphere: Expert Knowledge and Environmental Governance*. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press, 2001.
- Miller, Clark. "Extending Assessment Communities to Developing Countries." ENRP Discussion Paper E-98-15. Kennedy School of Government, Harvard University, 1998.
- Miller, Clark. "Hybrid Management: Boundary Organizations, Science Policy, and Environmental Governance in the Climate Regime." *Science, Technology and Human Values* 26, no. 4 (2001): 478-500.
- Ministério da Agricultura, Pecuária e Abastecimento (MAPA). 2004. MAPA contesta denúncias sobre o desmatamento da Amazônia. Http://www.amazonia.org.br/noticias/noticia.cfm?id=109285, 25 May. 26 May 2004.
- Mitchell, Ronald B., et al. *Global Environmental Assessments: Information, Institutions, and Influence*. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press, forthcoming.
- Moore, Curtis and Alan Miller. *Green Gold: Japan, Germany, the United States, and the Race for Environmental Technology*. Boston, MA: Beacon Press, 1994.
- Mukerji, Chandra. A Fragile Power: Scientists and the State. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press, 1989.
- Mulder, H., T. Auf der Heyde et al. "Success and Failures in Starting Science Shops." In *Success and Failures in Starting Science Shops*. Groningen, the Netherlands,: University of Groningen, 2001.
- Nader, Laura, ed. *Naked Science: Anthropological Inquiry Into Boundaries, Power, and Knowledge.* New York: Routledge, 1996.
- Nader, Laura. "Up the Anthropologist -- Perspectives Gained from Studying up." In *Anthropology in the Nineties*, edited by Johnnetta B. Cole. New York: Free Press, 1988.

- Najam, Adil, Saleemul Huq, and Youba Sokona. "Climate Negotiations Beyond Kyoto: Developing Countries Concerns and Interests." *Climate Policy* 3, no. 3 (2003): 221-31.
- Nepstad, Daniel C., et al. "Large-Scale Impoverishment of Amazonian Forests by Logging and Fire." *Nature* 398 (8 April 1999): 505-08.
- Oreskes, Naomi. "Science and Public Policy: What's Proof Got to Do with It?" *Environmental Science and Policy* 7 (2004): 369-83.
- O'Riordan, Timothy, Chester L. Cooper, and Andrew Jordan. "Institutional Frameworks for Political Action." In *Human Choice and Climate Change Volume One*, edited by Steve Rayner and Elizabeth L. Malone, 345-439. Columbus, Ohia: Batelle Press, 1998.
- Payne, Rodger A. "Persuasion, Frames and Norm Selection." *European Journal of International Relations* 7, no. 1 (2001): 37-61.
- Persson, Martin, and Christian Azar. 2004. Brazil beyond Kyoto: Prospects and problems in handling tropical deforestation in a second commitment period.

 Http://www.naturvardsverket.se/dokument/press/2004/juni/postkyoto/brazil1.pdf. Chalmers University of Technology, May.
- Persson, Torsten, and Guido Tabellini. *Political Economics: Explaining Economic Policy*. Cambridge, Mass.: MIT Press, 2000.
- Pielke Jr., Roger A. "Policy, Politics and Perspective: The Scientific Community Must Distinguish Analysis from Advocacy." *Nature* 416 (28 March 2002): 367-8.
- Pielke Jr., Roger A. "Scientific Information and Global Change Policymaking." *Climatic Change* 28 (1994): 315-19.
- Pielke Jr., Roger A. "Asking the Right Questions: Atmospheric Sciences Research and Societal Needs." *Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society* 78, no. 2 (1997): 255-64.
- Powell, Walter W., and Paul J. DiMaggio. *New Institutionalism in Organizational Analysis*. Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1991.
- Price, Marie. "Ecopolitics and Nongovernmental Organizations in Latin America." *Geographical Review* 84, no. 1 (January 1994): 42-58.
- Proctor, James D. "The Meaning of Global Environmental Change: Retheorizing Culture in Human Dimensions Research." *Global Environmental Change* 8, no. 3 (1998): 277-48.
- Rayner, Steve., et al. "Weather Forecasts Are for Wimps: Why Water Resource Managers Don't Use Climate Forecasts." Final Report to NOAA Office of Global Programs. 2002 http://www.ogp.noaa.gov/mpe/csi/econhd/1998/rayner_final.pdf.
- Reid, W., and J. Goldemberg. "Slowing Climate Change: Is the South Doing More Than the North?" World Resources Institute. Washington, D.C., 1997.
- Robertson, D. P., and R. B. Hull. "Public Ecology: An Environmental Science and Policy for Global Society." *Environmental Science & Policy* 6, no. 5 (2003): 399-410.
- Román, Mikael. 1998. The implementation of international regimes: The case of the Amazon Cooperation Treaty. Doctoral Thesis. Department of Government: Uppsala University, Sweden.
- Romero, Simon. 2004. Brazil's Spreading Exports Worry Minnesota Farmers. *The New York Times*, 22 June.
- Rosenau, James N. *Turbulence in World Politics: A Theory of Change and Continuity*. Princeton: Princeton University Press, 1990.
- Rosenau, James N. "The Relocation of Authority in a Shrinking World." In *Comparative Science and Technology Policy*, edited by Sheila Jasanoff, 617-36. Cheltenham, UK; Lyme, US: An Elgar Regference Collection, 1997.

- Rosenau, James N. "The Future of Politics." Futures 31, no. 9-10 (1999): 1005-16.
- Sarachick, E. S., and E. Shea. "End-to-End Seasonal-to-Interannual Prediction." *The ENSO Signal* 7 (1997): 4-6.
- Sarewitz, Daniel, and Roger Jr. Pielke. "Prediction in Science and Policy." *Technology in Society* 21 (1999): 121-33.
- Sarewitz, Daniel, and Roger Pielke Jr. "Breaking the Global-Warming Gridlock." *The Atlantic Monthly* July 2000: 55-64.
- Sarewitz, Daniel, Roger A. Pielke Jr., and Radford Byerly, eds. *Prediction: Decision-Making and the Future of Nature*. Washington, D.C.: Island Press, 2000.
- Sarewitz, Daniel. "How Science Makes Environmental Controversies Worse." *Environmental Science and Policy* 7 (2004): 385-403.
- Sarewitz, Daniel. "Science and Environmental Policy: An Excess of Objectivity." In *Earth Matters: The Earth Sciences and Contemporary Culture*, edited by Editor? Prentice Hall, forthcoming.
- Schmink, Marianne, and Charles H. Wood. *Contested Frontiers in Amazonia*. New York: Columbia University Press, 1992.
- Schwartzman, Simon, Carlos Osmar Bertero, Eduardo Augusto Guimarães, Eduardo Krieger, Eugene B. Skolnikoff, Fernando Galembeck, Georges Ferné, Lewis M. Branscomb, Michael Gibbons, and Thomas Schott. 1995. *Science and technology in Brazil: A new policy for a global world*. Rio de Janeiro, Brazil: Fundação Getulio Vargas.
- Schroeder, P. E., and S. F. Siebert. "Assessing Brazil's Carbon Budget: II. Biotic Fluxes and Net Carbon Balance." *Forest Ecology and Management* 75 (2002): 87-99.
- Scott, James C. Seeing Like a State. New Haven: Yale University Press, 1998.
- Shapin, Stephen. "Cordelia's Love: Credibility and the Social Studies of Science." *Perspectives on Science* 3 (1995): 255-75.
- Shapin, Steven, and Simon Schaffer. Leviathan and the Air Pump: Hobbes, Boyle, and the Experimental Life. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press, 1985.
- Shapin, Steven. "The Politics of Observation: Cerebral Anatomy and Social Interests in the Edinburgh Phrenology Disputes." In *On the Margins of Science: The Social Construction of Rejected Knowledge*, edited by Roy Wallis, 139-78. London (University of Keele's Sociological Review Monograph): Routledge & Kegan Paul, 1979.
- Shih, Wen-chen. "The World Bank and Climate Change." *Journal Of International Economic Law* 3, no. 4 (December 2000): 633.
- Siebenhüner. "The Changing Role of Nation States in International Environmental Assessments the Case of the IPCC." *Global Environmental Change* 13, no. 2 (July 2003): 113-23.
- Simões, Solange. "How Green Are Brazilians? Environmental Values, Attitudes and Behavior in Brazil." In *Human Dimensions of Global Environmental Change: Brazilian Perspectives*, edited by Daniel Joseph Hogan and Maurício Tiomno Tolmasquim, 217-48. Rio de Janeiro: Academia Brasileira de Ciências, 2001.
- Sloan, John W. Public Policy in Latin America. Pittsburgh, USA: University of Pittsburgh Press, 1984.
- Smith, W., and S. Kelly. "Science, Technical Expertise and the Human Environment." *Progress in Planning* 60 (2003): 321-94.
- Stern, P. C., and W. E. Easterling. *Making Climate Forecasts Matter*. Washington, D.C.: National Academy Press, 1999.
- Susskind. Environmental Diplomacy: Negotiating More Effective Global Agreements. New York, Oxford: Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1994.

- Trines, Eveline P. "Brazil Beyond Kyoto: A Review of Optionsn to Promote Sustainable Forestry Under a Climate Regime." Edited by Report commissioned by the Swedish Energy Agency.

 12 May 2004
 http://www.naturvardsverket.se/dokument/press/2004/juni/postkyoto/brazilbeyond.pdf
- UNU/TERI. The UNU-TERI Protocol on Climate Change: A Blueprint for Kyoto. Tokyo: UNU Press, 1997.
- van den Hove, Sybille. "Participatory Approaches to Environmental Policy-Making: The European Commission Climate Policy Process as a Case Study." *Ecological Economics* 33, no. 3 (2000): 457-72.
- VanDeever, Stacy. "European Politics with a Scientific Face: Transition Countries, International Environmental Assessment, and Long-Range Transboundary Air Pollution." ENRP Discussion Paper E-98-09, Kennedy School of Government, Harvard University. 1998.
- Viola, Eduardo J. "The Environmental Movement in Brazil: Institutionalization, Sustainable Development, and Crisis of Governance Since 1987." In *Latin American Environmental Policy in International Perspective*, edited by Gordon J. MacDonald, Daniel L. Nielson, and Marc A. Stern, 88-110. Boulder, Colorado: Westview Press, 1997.
- Viola, Eduardo, and Héctor Leis. "Brazil and Global Governance: The Case of Climate Change." In *Human Dimensions of Global Environmental Change: Brazilian Perspectives*, edited by Daniel Joseph Hogan and Maurício Tiomno Tolmasquim, 121-56. Rio de Janeiro: Academia Brasileira de Ciências, 2001.
- Viola, Eduardo. "Brazil in the Politics of Global Governance and Climate Change, 1989-2003." In *Working Paper Number CBS-56-04*. Edited by Oxford University Centre for Brazilian Studies. 2004. 4 October 2004 http://www.brazil.ox.ac.uk/workingpapers/Eduardo%20Viola%2056.pdf>.
- Wapner, Paul. "Politics Beyond the State: Environmental Activism and World Civic Politics." *World Politics* 47 (April 1995): 311-40.
- Williams, Marc. "The Third World and Global Environmental Negotiations: Interests, Institutions and Ideas." *Global Environmental Politics* 5, no. 3 (August 2005): 48-69.
- Wood, Charles H., and Marianne Schmink. "The Military and the Environmenet in the Brazilian Amazon." *Journal of Political and Military Sociology* 21, no. 1 (1993): 81-105.
- World Commission on Environment and Development. *Our Common Future*. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1987.
- Yearley, Steven. Sociology, Environmentalism, Globalization. London & Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage, 1996.
- Yoke, Gary. "Some Thoughts on Perspective." Global Environmental Change 14 (2004): 283-86.
- Zirker, Daniel, and M. Henberg. "Amazonia, Democracy, Ecology, and Brazilian Military Prerogatives in the 1990s." *Armed Forces and Society* 20 (1994): 259.
- Zirker, Daniel. "The Brazilian Military Paradox: Growing Nationalism in a Global Environment." Presented at the Paper Has Been Prepared for Presentation at the XXIII International Congress of the Latin American Studies Association, Washington, DC, September 6-8, 2001, 2001.